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PROTECTED  LANDMARK  DESIGNATION  REPORT  

LANDMARK NAME: The Duplex at 1318 Robin and the Duplex 

at 1320 Robin 

 AGENDA ITEM:  C.1 – C.2 

 HPO FILE NO:  16PL158/16PL159 

OWNER: Freedmen’s Town Association, Inc.  DATE ACCEPTED:  11-21-2016 

APPLICANT: Gladys House  HAHC HEARING:  12-14-2016 

LOCATION:  1318 Robin St/1320 Robin St–Freedmen’s Town   

SITE INFORMATION: Tract 6, Block 21, Castanie, City of Houston, Harris County, Texas. The site 

includes two historic two-story duplexes.  

TYPE OF APPROVAL REQUESTED:  Protected Landmark Designation 

HISTORY AND SIGNIFICANCE SUMMARY  

The Duplex at 1318 Robin Street and the Duplex at 1320 Robin Street are located in the Freedmen’s 

Town section of the Fourth Ward, one of Houston’s oldest and most historic African American 

neighborhoods. The fledgling rural neighborhood was established by freed slaves after 

Emancipation in 1865 and by the 1930s, Freedmen’s Town was a thriving and self-contained 

community. A significant population of Italian immigrants also lived in Freedmen’s Town and built 

their homes, businesses, and rental properties in the area during the early 1900s. The duplexes at 

1318 and 1320 Robin Street were constructed ca. 1941 for Carl Lee Tortorici (1893-1956), who 

emigrated with his family from Italy to the United States in 1910.  

Tortorici and his family moved to Houston in 1934 to the Freedmen’s Town neighborhood where he 

opened a grocery store. In 1941, Tortorici hired Seamon Henry Clay (1880-1960), a black carpenter 

and contractor who resided in the Third Ward, to build the duplexes. Clay is one of the few black 

carpenters and contractors whose work still exists in Freedmen’s Town. Several African Americans 

resided in the duplexes for short periods of time. Tillman Hicks, a black barber who resided at 

several addresses in the neighborhood, operated his business, the Shady Green Barbershop, in the 

1318 Robin duplex for sixteen years.  

The two-story duplexes at 1318 and 1320 Robin Street are Craftsman-style wood-frame structures 

with gable roofs, half-width inset porches, and pier and beam foundations. Each have rectangular 

floorplans and face south on Robin Street. The duplexes have retained their historical shape and 

features for the past seventy-five years. 

In 1994, the Freedmen’s Town Association (FTA) purchased the duplexes from Tortorici 

descendants. The FTA, a community-based nonprofit organization, was formed in 1981 to advocate 

for the Freedmen’s Town community, including preserving the neighborhood’s history. It is 

currently seeking funds to restore the duplexes to their historic integrity. 

The Duplex at 1318 Robin Street and the Duplex at 1320 Robin Street are significant for their 

vernacular architectural style, African American craftsmanship, and their association with the Italian 

immigrant population in Freedmen’s Town. Each duplex is listed as “Contributing” in the 

Freedmen’s Town National Register District and meets Criteria 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 8 for Protected 

Landmark designation.  



CITY OF HOUSTON 
Archaeological & Historical Commission                    Planning and Development Department 

 

 

The Duplex at 1318 Robin Street &  

The Duplex at 1320 Robin Street  Page 2 of 11 16PL158-16PL159 
 

HISTORY AND SIGNIFICANCE  

Early Settlement 

African American Houstonians often refer to Freedmen’s Town, or Fourth Ward, as the “mother-

ward” because the origins of many African American churches, organizations, schools, and 

businesses are rooted there. Fourth Ward was one of four wards established by a City Charter in 

1839. These wards, eventually numbering six, were originally established as political subdivisions. 

While this means of political delineation was abandoned in the early 1900s, the term “ward” today 

remains a geographic identifier for inner Houston neighborhoods. The earliest concentrations of 

African American settlements after the Civil War were on the fringes of the Third, Fourth, and Fifth 

Wards, settlements known collectively as “Freedmen’s Town.” Freedmen’s Town’s original 

boundaries, though never quite geographically distinct, expanded to include the Justin Castanie and 

W.R Baker additions beginning in 1866. These areas, while not attractive to many whites, provided 

a prime location for settlement because of their proximity to San Felipe Road (now W. Dallas) 

which provided a direct link between Houston and the Brazos River Plantations to the West.  

Evidence of African American land ownership in Freedmen’s Town is recorded as early as 1866. 

Carpenter Peter Stanton and drayman William Smith, for example, each owned property on the 

1300 block of Robin Street. The Reverend Henry “Jack” Yates, founder of Antioch Baptist Church, 

purchased property on the 1300 block of Andrews Street in 1869. Reverend Yates was a powerful 

influence on the political, social, and cultural life of African Americans in Houston. The reverend 

was also instrumental in making Freedmen’s Town a center of African American education, 

allowing the Freedmen’s Bureau to establish a school at Antioch. He even played a prominent role 

in the founding of Houston Baptist Academy in Third Ward, as well as the founding of Bethel 

Baptist Church.  

Twentieth-Century Growth and Decline  

By the turn of the century, Freedmen’s Town was a thriving African American community and the 

primary location for services offered by African American professionals. In the 1930s, Freedmen's 

Town had its own commercial district, library, schools, professional baseball field, and numerous 

churches. However, in the 1940s and 1950s, the neighborhood was crippled by its inability to 

expand geographically. The onset of the Great Depression drastically reduced the rate of 

construction within the ward itself, and the construction of San Felipe Courts, a “whites-only” 

public housing complex, eliminated land available to African Americans. The construction of 

Interstate 45 severed the ward’s connection to downtown and Antioch Baptist Church. The new 

physical development coupled with the flight of African Americans to other neighborhoods in the 

city, resulted in the slow decline of the once bustling neighborhood.  

Neighborhood Preservation 

In 1985, because of the neighborhood’s unique architecture, heritage, and culture, forty blocks were 

designated as a historic district and listed in the National Register of Historic Places. The historic 

district’s street boundaries include West Dallas (north); Arthur (east); Victor (south); and Genesee 

(west).  Within the last fifteen years, two additional architectural surveys were taken of Freedmen’s 

Town’s remaining historic properties. It has been determined that at least three-fourths of the 

community’s historic residential structures have been demolished or destroyed by fire. Additional 
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losses of the community’s historic fabric include the recent construction of high-density residential 

metal, wood, brick, and stucco structures; encroachment and replacement of Freedmen’s Town 

street signs with “Mid-Town” signs; and a recent surge of diverse residents moving to the 

neighborhood. 

Carl Lee Tortorici and Italian Immigrants in Freedmen’s Town 

Italian immigrants also had a substantial presence in Freedmen’s Town, and built their homes, 

businesses, and rental properties in the area during the early 1900s. Over the years, several Italian 

families acquired property throughout Freedmen’s Town. Although their descendants have long 

since moved out of the neighborhood, many Italian families still retain ownership of these 

properties. The two-story duplexes at 1318 and 1320 Robin Street were constructed ca. 1941 for 

Carl Lee Tortorici (1893-1956), who emigrated with his family from Italy to the United States in 

1910. After residing in Dallas for twenty years, Tortorici and his family moved to Houston in 1934 

to 1401 Andrews Street in the Freedmen’s Town neighborhood where he opened a grocery store. 

The two-story residence had a grocery store at the street level with living quarters above. A number 

of intersections in Freedmen’s Town had corner grocery stores attached or built next to homes 

which were owned and operated by Italian immigrants.  

In 1937, Tortorici and his wife Katherine paid C.H. Walrath $1,900 for Tract 6, Block 21, in the 

Castanie Subdivision. Mary Florence Tullos had previously owned the lot and built two one-story 

structures as rental units, which Tortorici later demolished. As evidenced by a mechanic's lien 

executed on May 12, 1941, the Tortoricis paid Seamon Henry Clay (1880-1960) $3,440 to build two 

two-story duplexes with ten rooms. Clay was a black carpenter and contractor from Catahoula 

Parish, Louisiana who resided in the Third Ward. Clay is one of the few black carpenters and 

contractors whose work still exists in Freedmen’s Town.  

The Tortoricis operated the duplexes as rental property. According to Houston City Directories, 

several African Americans resided there for short periods of time. Tillman Hicks, a black barber 

who resided at several addresses in the neighborhood, operated his business, the Shady Green 

Barbershop, in the 1318 Robin duplex for sixteen years. The Tortorici family resided in the 

neighborhood until 1944. 

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION AND RESTORATION HISTORY  

The two-story duplexes at 1318 and 1320 Robin Street are each approximately 1500 square feet.   

The duplexes are Craftsman-style wood-frame structures built on pier and beam foundations. Each 

have rectangular floorplans and face south on Robin Street. The buildings have gable roofs with 

composition shingles, aluminum-sash windows, clapboard siding, wood floors, two entry doors, and 

half-width inset porches with wood posts which flank the rear and front of the structures. The first 

and second levels have three bedrooms, one bath, kitchen and dining room. The form of the 

duplexes in the 1951 Sanborn map indicates that the duplexes have retained their historical shape 

and features for the past seventy-five years. They were listed as “Contributing” properties in the 

Freedmen’s Town National Register District designated in 1985. 

In 1994, the Freedmen’s Town Association (FTA), in need of office space, purchased the two-story 

duplexes from MKTM Properties (a company owned by Tortorici descendants). The FTA, a 

community-based nonprofit organization was formed in 1981 to address concerns and issues of 
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community residents; actively advocate for the preservation of remaining historic buildings; educate 

the public about the community’s unique history and culture; promote new and affordable housing; 

offer various programs for youth, adults and the elderly; and enhance economic viability by 

stimulating new businesses and expanding existing ones. Other offices housed in the FTA building 

are the CDC of Freedmen's Town, Alumni and Ex- Student Association of Schools of Freedmen's 

Town, and the African-American Preservation Alliance of Hou-Harris Co. Texas.  The Freedmen’s 

Town Association is currently seeking funds to restore the duplexes to their historic integrity. 
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The information and sources provided by the applicant for this application have been reviewed, verified, edited and 

supplemented with additional research and sources by the Historic Preservation Office, Planning and Development 

Department, City of Houston.  
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APPROVAL CRITERIA FOR PROTECTED LANDMARK DESIGNATION 

The HAHC shall review each application for designation of a protected landmark that is included in 

an application for designation of a landmark at the same time and in the same manner as it reviews 

and considers the application for a landmark.  The HAHC and the Planning Commission, in making 

recommendations with respect to a protected landmark designation, and the City Council, in making 

a designation, shall consider whether the building, structure, site, or area meets at least three of the 

criteria in Section 33-224, or one of the criteria in Section 33-229, as follows: 

 

 S  NA                                                                                       S - satisfies     NA - not applicable 

Meets at least three of the following (Sec. 33-224(a): 

 

   (1) Whether the building, structure, object, site or area possesses character, interest or 

value as a visible reminder of the development, heritage, and cultural and ethnic 

diversity of the city, state, or nation; 

 

   (2) Whether the building, structure, object, site or area is the location of a significant 

local, state or national event; 

 

   (3) Whether the building, structure, object, site or area is identified with a person who, or 

group or event that, contributed significantly to the cultural or historical development 

of the city, state, or nation; 

 

   (4) Whether the building or structure or the buildings or structures within the area 

exemplify a particular architectural style or building type important to the city;  

 

   (5) Whether the building or structure or the buildings or structures within the area are the 

best remaining examples of an architectural style or building type in a neighborhood; 

  

   (6) Whether the building, structure, object or site or the buildings, structures, objects or 

sites within the area are identified as the work of a person or group whose work has 

influenced the heritage of the city, state, or nation; 

 

   (7) Whether specific evidence exists that unique archaeological resources are present; 

 

    (8) Whether the building, structure, object or site has value as a significant element of    

      community sentiment or public pride. 

 

AND 

    (9) If less than 50 years old, or proposed historic district containing a majority of 

buildings, structures, or objects that are less than 50 years old, whether the building, 

structure, object, site, or area is of extraordinary importance to the city, state or nation 

for reasons not based on age (Sec. 33-224(b).  

OR 
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     The property was built before 1905 (Sec. 33-229(a)(2); 

 

OR 

         The property is listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places or 

designated as a “contributing structure” in an historic district listed in the National 

Register of Historic Places (Sec. 33-229(a)(3);   

OR 

     The property is recognized by the State of Texas as a Recorded State Historical 

Landmark (Sec. 33-229(a)(4).  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the Houston Archaeological and Historical Commission recommend to City 

Council the Protected Landmark Designation of  

HAHC RECOMMENDATION 

The Houston Archaeological and Historical Commission recommends to City Council the Protected 

Landmark Designation of the Duplex at 1318 Robin Street and the Duplex at 1320 Robin Street.  
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EXHIBIT A 

SITE LOCATION MAP 
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EXHIBIT B 

CURRENT PHOTO 
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EXHIBIT C 

HISTORIC PHOTOS 
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EXHIBIT D 

SANBORN MAP 
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ATTACHMENT E 

HISTORICAL DOCUMENTS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 






































































